AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN

Bloomington Board of Education

School District 87 Bloomington, Illinois

AND

BLOOMINGTON EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL (Paraprofessionals) Bloomington, Illinois

2025-2026 through 2027-2028

CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1: RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS	1
1.1 Recognition	1
1.2 Definitions	1
ARTICLE 2: EMPLOYER – ASSOCIATION RELATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	1
2.1 Employer Rights	1
2.2 Surveillance	2
ARTICLE 3: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	2
3.1 Association Dues	2
3.2 Discrimination Against Employees	3
3.3 Rights to Organize	3
3.4 Use of Employer's Facilities	3
3.5 Posting of Vacancies	3
3.6 No Strikes	4
3.7 No Lockouts	4
3.8 Request for Information	4
3.9 New Employees	4
ARTICLE 4: EMPLOYEE PROTECTION	5
4.1 Rules and Regulations	5
4.2 Discipline	5
4.3 Review of Personnel File	5
4.4 Complaints Regarding an Employee	5
4.5 Assault Upon an Employee	6
4.6 Health and Safety	6
4.7 Sexual Harassment	7
ARTICLE 5: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	7
5.1 Definition	7
5.2 Procedures	7
5.3 Other Provisions	8
ARTICLE 6: HOURS OF WORK	9
6.1 Work Year	9
6.2 Workday	9
6.3 Probationary Period	9
6.4 Last Day of School	9
6.5 Professional Development	9
6.6 E-Learning Days	9
6.7 Faculty Meetings	10
ARTICLE 7: WAGES AND RELATED BENEFITS	10
7.1 Wages	10
7.2 Tax Sheltered Annuity	10
7.3 Group Medical Plans	10
7.4 Life Insurance	12
7.5 Pay Days	12

7.6 Substitute Work	12
7.7 Retirement Incentive	12
ARTICLE 8: LEAVES	13
8.1 Sick Leave	13
8.2 Leave for Personal Business	14
8.3 Jury Service	14
8.4 Leave for Military Service	15
8.5 Leave for Educational Meeting	15
8.6 General Leave of Absence Without Salary	15
8.7 Association Leave Days	15
8.8 Family Medical Leave Act	15
ARTICLE 9: EMPLOYEE EVALUATION	16
9.1 Employee Evaluation	16
ARTICLE 10: SENIORITY AND LAYOFFS	16
10.1 Seniority	16
10.2 Involuntary Transfers	16
10.3 Layoff	17
ARTICLE 11: LIMITATION OF AGREEMENT	17
11.1 Conformity to Law	17
11.2 Complete Agreement	17
ARTICLE 12: TERMINATION AND NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES	17
12.1 Contract Period	17
12.2 Modification	18
APPENDIX	19
Paraprofessional Hourly Wage Rates: 2025-26 through 2027-28	19

AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN BLOOMINGTON BOARD OF EDUCATION, SCHOOL DISTRICT 87, AND BLOOMINGTON EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL, IEA-NEA

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between Bloomington Board of Education of School District 87, Bloomington, Illinois (hereinafter referred to as the "Employer"), and the Bloomington Educational Support Personnel, IEA-NEA (hereinafter referred to as the "Association").

ARTICLE 1: RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS

1.1 Recognition

The Employer recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative for all Paraprofessionals employed by the Employer, who are scheduled to work at least three (3) hours per day, except all confidential, supervisory, short-term, temporary and managerial Employees defined by the Illinois Educational Labor Relations Act.

1.2 Definitions

When used in the Agreement, the following definitions of terms shall apply:

- **1.2.1** "School District" or "District" means the Bloomington Public Schools, District 87, Bloomington, Illinois. The term "District" and the term "Employer" are synonymous as used herein.
- **1.2.2** "Superintendent" means the chief administrative officer of the Bloomington Public Schools, District 87, Bloomington, Illinois.
- **1.2.3** "Work location" means school or building.
- **1.2.4** "Temporary" means hired to perform a specific assignment or on an as needed or request basis.
- **1.2.5** Building principal or designated supervisor means an administrator. A teacher shall not be the "designated supervisor."
- **1.2.6** "Full-time employee" means an employee who works 6.75 clock hours per workday. "Part-time employee" means an employee who works fewer than 6.75 clock hours per workday.

ARTICLE 2: EMPLOYER - ASSOCIATION RELATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1 Employer Rights

Except as specifically restricted by the express language of this Agreement, the Employer retains the right to manage the School District and direct the working forces in the manner it determines to be in the best interests of the School District. Such right includes, but is not limited to, the right to hire, assign, schedule, promote, demote, transfer, layoff, discipline and discharge Employees; to relieve Employees from duties because of lack of work or other legitimate reasons; to determine the work to be performed by Employees, the size of the work force, and the manner in which work is to be performed; and to establish and enforce reasonable rules and regulations applicable to Employees which are not in conflict with any provision of this Agreement.

2.2 Surveillance

- **2.2.1** The purpose of surveillance equipment is to secure the buildings. The purpose of surveillance equipment is not to evaluate the performance of employees or to monitor their behavior or conduct.
- **2.2.2** Surveillance shall only occur in common areas including, among others, hallways, parking lots, grounds, cafeterias, and gymnasiums. Surveillance equipment will not be utilized to observe employee performance or otherwise be accessed as documentation in the employee evaluation process.
- **2.2.3** Data from the surveillance equipment may be reviewed by the District's personnel in connection with investigations of suspected criminal conduct or security violations or incidents. Access to data involving District personnel will be limited to appropriate administrative personnel and police liaison officers. Such review will take place in the office of one of the parties listed above. If the review of data inadvertently reveals alleged incidents of employee misconduct, the following process will be followed.
 - a. The Employee and the Association will be notified in writing if the District intends to investigate the alleged employee misconduct incident.
 - b. The Association representative or the Employee's representative may review the data depicting the alleged employee misconduct.
 - c. The Employee has the right to be represented in all investigatory meetings regarding alleged misconduct unless the employee declines representation. For further information see Section 4.2 of this Agreement.
 - d. Any discipline that may be imposed against the employee as a result of the misconduct investigation shall be in accordance with the applicable provisions in this Agreement.
- **2.2.4** Data from surveillance equipment may be stored for up to capacity unless there is cause to believe that such data would document a criminal or security incident.
- **2.2.5** At the time surveillance equipment is activated in each school building, all employees at that school shall be informed in writing of the use of the surveillance equipment. All new employees will be notified in writing of the use of the surveillance equipment as part of new employee orientation.

ARTICLE 3: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

3.1 Association Dues

The Employer shall deduct from each Employee's pay the current dues of the Association, in the amount certified by the Association and in accordance with the terms of the Employee's written authorization provided to the Employer by the Association. Employee requests to authorize, revoke, cancel, or change authorizations for payroll deductions shall be directed to the Association rather than to the Employer. The Association shall be responsible for initially processing requests and for providing notification and proper requests to the Employer. Upon receiving written notice of the authorization, the Employer shall commence dues deductions as soon as practicable, but in no case later than 30 days after receiving notice from the Association. All dues deducted by the Employer shall be transmitted to the Association no later than 10 days after they are deducted.

- **3.1.1** Deductions shall remain in effect until the Employer receives notice that an Employee has revoked authorization in writing in accordance with the terms of the authorization; or the Employee is no longer employed by the Employer in a bargaining unit position; or the Employee is placed on extended unpaid leave pursuant to Article 9.
- **3.1.2** The Association agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend, at its own expense and through its own counsel, the Employer from any and all liability under this provision.

3.2 Discrimination Against Employees

The Association and the Employer agree that they will not practice discrimination or discriminate against any Employee because of race, color, religion, creed, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, age, ancestry, marital status, military status or unfavorable discharge, citizenship status, physical or mental disability if otherwise able to perform the essential functions of the job with reasonable accommodation.

3.3 Rights to Organize

Employees shall have the right to organize, join, and assist the Association, and to participate in professional negotiations with the Employer as provided in this Agreement through representatives of their own choosing; provided, however, nothing herein shall be construed as sanctioning any action which is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Neither the Employer nor the Association will discriminate on the basis of Association membership or non-membership, lawful Association activity or refusing to engage in such activity, participation in negotiations, or the adjustment of grievances.

- **3.3.1** The Association and the Employer agree that Association membership is entirely a matter of the Employee's free choice and determination.
- **3.3.2** Employees shall not solicit membership in the Association or carry on any Association activity during normal working hours as established by this Agreement.

3.4 Use of Employer's Facilities

The Employer agrees that the Association may use the Employer's facilities for lawful Association activities involving only Employees covered by this Agreement, provided such use does not interfere with the regular school operation. The use of such facilities shall be subject to all rules, conditions, and policies governing the use of such facilities. When applicable the Association shall pay the regular charge for the use of such facilities.

- **3.4.1** Upon approval of an Application and Permit for Use of School Properties, the Association shall have the right to schedule Association meetings and activities on school property in accordance with the conditions specified in 3.4 of this Agreement.
- **3.4.2** The Association shall be permitted to post notices of meetings and other pertinent information regarding lawful Association activities on a bulletin board at each work location.
- **3.4.3** The Association shall be permitted to use the School District delivery service and technology for communications to Employees within a work location and system-wide; provided, however, political campaign materials so distributed shall be enclosed in separate envelopes. A copy of materials sent by such delivery service shall be given to the Superintendent or their designee at the same time such materials are deposited with delivery service.

3.5 Posting of Vacancies

The Employer shall post in all school buildings and share electronically with all Employees notice of any permanent vacancy or anticipated vacancy in a position covered by this Agreement. Employees who have submitted the internal application for a posted vacancy shall

be considered for an interview. No vacancy shall be filled permanently until such vacancy is posted five (5) normal scheduled workdays from the time such posting is shared electronically with all Employees, except when the vacancy develops during the summer when school is not in session. During the summer when school is not in session, postings will continue to be shared electronically with all Employees, but the Employer need not post in buildings.

3.6 No Strikes

The Association agrees there shall be no strike, withholding of services, slow-down, mass resignations, mass absenteeism, picketing, or other refusal to render full and complete service to the Employer during the term of this Agreement. The Association agrees that it will not authorize or encourage any interruption of service, including sympathy strikes or similar actions.

- **3.6.1** In the event of an interruption of service, the officers of the Association will immediately order its members to return to work.
- **3.6.2** Any Employee participating in any activity prohibited by this Section will be discharged by the Employer. Should the discharge be challenged through the grievance procedure, the only issue for the arbitrator shall be whether the Employee participated in the action. The arbitrator shall not issue a lesser penalty.

3.7 No Lockouts

The Employer agrees that during the term of this Agreement it will not lock out any Employee covered by this Agreement in connection with any labor dispute with the Association.

3.8 Request for Information

The Employer shall make available to the Association, upon its written request, information, statistics, and records which are relevant to negotiations or necessary for the enforcement of the terms of this Agreement.

- **3.8.1** The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to furnish to the President of the Association, at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to each Board of Education meeting, a copy of the agenda and such other information given to the news media for said meeting. The Association and Employees waive their rights to grieve under Article 5 of this Agreement any failure by the Employer to comply with the time limitation for delivery of such material specified in paragraph 3.8.1.
- **3.8.2** Within ten (10) calendar days of the start of the school year, and then at least every thirty (30) calendar days during the school year, the Employer will furnish to the Association the name, job title, date of hire, worksite location, work ID number (if available), work telephone number, work email address, home and personal phone numbers (if on file) and personal email address (if on file) for each Employee in the bargaining unit. The same information will be furnished for each newly-hired Employee during the school year within ten (10) calendar days of their approved employment by the Employer.

3.9 New Employees

The Association will be granted one hour of dedicated time to meet with any new Employee. Ideally, this meeting will be scheduled in conjunction with District training, which may cover topics such as human resources policies, benefits, job description, roles and responsibilities, the evaluation process, safety, and technology (including accessing District email and other online resources). If the new Employee is unable to attend a district training session, the Employer will collaborate with the Association to find a mutually agreed upon time for the meeting to take place.

ARTICLE 4: EMPLOYEE PROTECTION

4.1 Rules and Regulations

The Employer agrees that its rules and regulations shall be reasonable, and that enforcement issues may be processed under the grievance procedure.

4.2 Discipline

The Employer understands that it may be desirable for an Employee to be represented by the Association at some meetings scheduled by the Employer.

- **4.2.1** If the Employer is investigating a matter involving an Employee which may reasonably lead to discipline, representatives of the Employer may discuss the matter with such Employee without a representative of the Association being present. However, it is understood and agreed that a meeting to discuss a pending or potential disciplinary matter will be held prior to issuing any written disciplinary action; and prior to scheduling such meeting, the Employee will be given written notice as to the nature of the meeting and informed of their right to be represented by an Association representative at such meeting.
- **4.2.2** A copy of any written disciplinary action shall not be placed in the Employee's personnel file without first giving the Employee a copy of the written disciplinary action and the opportunity to place a written response to such disciplinary action in their personnel file.
- **4.2.3** The parties recognize that the Employer may take immediate action in response to an arrest of an Employee when the arrest involves a matter that could impact the operation of the District. Such actions could include temporary reassignments, leaves of absence with or without pay at the discretion of the Employer, or other similar measures. Such actions are not considered discipline and are not subject to "just cause". However, any discipline imposed upon an Employee as a result of an arrest, or events leading up to an arrest, are subject to "just cause".
- **4.2.4** Disciplinary action will be imposed upon a non-probationary Employee only for just cause. Any disciplinary action imposed upon a non-probationary Employee may be challenged through the regular grievance procedure set forth in Article 4 of this Agreement.

4.3 Review of Personnel File

At the mutual convenience of the Employee and the Superintendent or their designee, such Employee shall have access to their personnel file. At the Employee's request a representative of the Association may accompany the Employee in such review. There shall be one personnel file for each Employee which shall contain all records and information except confidential material. The term "confidential material" refers to confidential placement credentials from a college or university, personal references, reference checks with a prior employer authorized by and with the knowledge of the Employee, and any material protected from disclosure pursuant to Public Act 83 1104.

4.4 Complaints Regarding an Employee

Any complaint deemed by the building principal or designated supervisor to justify investigation and/or subsequent action of any nature shall be brought to the attention of the Employee involved. The building principal or designated supervisor will schedule a conference to assist such Employee in an attempt to resolve the issue involved in such complaint deemed by such principal or supervisor to justify investigation and/or subsequent action of any nature.

- **4.4.1** When deemed appropriate by the building principal or designated supervisor, or requested in writing by the Employee, an attempt will be made to schedule a conference between the complaining party and the Employee involved. The Employee may at their option have representation as desired at any conference held at which the Employee, principal or supervisor, and complaining party are present.
- **4.4.2** No disciplinary action shall be initiated by the Employer against such Employee based on such complaint until a conference between the complaining party and the Employee has occurred.
- **4.4.3** The Employee has the right to be represented in all investigatory meetings regarding alleged misconduct unless the Employee declines representation. For further information see Section 4.2 of this Agreement.

4.5 Assault Upon an Employee

The Employer and the Association agree that assaults on Employees are a matter of grave concern.

- **4.5.1** In the case of an assault on an Employee:
 - a. An Employee shall promptly report to their building administrator, or other person designated by the Superintendent, any alleged case of assault on such Employee while performing their assigned duties and should submit an incident report to be provided to the appropriate administration and district staff for documentation and reporting.
 - b. The Employer shall maintain accurate and current records of such incident reports. A summary shall be shared with the Association upon request.
 - c. The Employer shall comply with 105 ILCS 5/10-21.7 regarding the reporting of incidents of battery.
- **4.5.2** The Employer shall render reasonable assistance, including legal counsel, to such Employee in connection with any prosecution by the State's Attorney or other public prosecutor of the person who allegedly assaulted such Employee. No deduction from such Employee's salary or leave will be made because of time lost by such Employee at the request of such authorities to assist in any such prosecution. An Employee may at their option have an Association representative present at any meeting held under this paragraph between such Employee and the legal counsel selected by the Employer.
- **4.5.3** If an Employee is physically injured by a student and is required to miss work as certified by a medical professional, the Employee will be placed on "paid administrative leave" for the first three days of the absence.

4.6 Health and Safety

The Employer agrees to provide a safe and healthy working environment in compliance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws and regulation, including both the Employer's Bloodborne Pathogens Exposure Control Plan which shall provide for the required inoculations at no cost to any Employee who believes they are at risk and who has submitted a written request for such treatment to the Superintendent or designated representative, as well as the Employer's Communicable and Chronic Infectious Disease, Board Policy 7.280, as it relates to and has impact on Employees.

4.7 Sexual Harassment

All claims of sexual harassment will be referred to the Superintendent or designated representative. The Association will be reasonably notified of the nature of the claim and the parties involved. All communications concerning claims of sexual harassment will be handled confidentially. In the event the Superintendent or designated representative is unable to resolve the claim, it may be submitted for processing through the grievance procedure contained in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

5.1 Definition

A grievance is a claim by the Association or an Employee that the Employer has violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied this Agreement.

5.2 Procedures

Grievances shall be processed as rapidly as possible. The number of days indicated at each step shall be construed as a maximum and every effort shall be made to expedite the process. All time limits shall consist of calendar days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, holidays as designated by the Illinois School Code, and other days falling during the school term which the Employer has established as "school holidays". A grievance shall be handled as follows:

- **5.2.1 Step One** An attempt shall be made to resolve any grievance by informal discussion between the grievant involved and their building principal. Such discussion shall be held at a time agreeable to the grievant and such principal.
- **5.2.2 Step Two** If the grievance cannot be resolved at step one, the grievant may file a grievance in writing with the building principal. Such grievance shall be filed within ten (10) days after the date of occurrence of the facts upon which the grievance is based. The written grievance shall state the nature of the grievance, the provision(s) of this Agreement which the Employer allegedly has violated, and the relief sought. Within ten (10) days after such written grievance is filed, the grievant and the principal or other administrator who has authority to make a decision on the grievance shall meet to resolve the grievance. Within ten (10) days after such meeting, the grievant and the Association shall receive a written answer to the grievance which shall explain the reasons for the decision on the grievance.
- **5.2.3 Step Three** In the event the grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved at step two, or the step two time limits expire without the issuance of a written reply, the aggrieved or the Association may file a written appeal of such grievance with the Superintendent by giving written notice of such appeal within ten (10) days of the step two answer or expiration of the time limit for the step two answer. A copy of such appeal also shall be filed with the administrator who prepared the step two answer. Within ten (10) days after such appeal is filed, the aggrieved, representative of the Association, and the Superintendent or their designee shall meet to resolve the grievance. Within ten (10) days after such meeting, the Superintendent or their designee shall give the aggrieved Employee and the Association a written answer to the grievance, which answer shall state the reasons for the decision of the Superintendent or their designee.
- **5.2.4 Step Four** If the step three answer is not acceptable to the Association or the step three time limits expire without the issuance of a written reply, the Association may appeal the grievance to final and binding arbitration by giving written notice of such appeal within

twenty (20) days after receipt of the step three answer or expiration of the time limit for the step three answer. If the Employer and the Association cannot agree upon an arbitrator within seven (7) days after the Association files such appeal, Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services will be requested to provide a panel of seven (7) arbitrators. Either party may reject the first panel of arbitrators by giving the other party written notice of such rejection. Upon receipt of an acceptable panel of arbitrators, the parties shall meet at a mutually agreed time and each party shall alternately strike one (1) name from the panel until only one (1) name remains, who shall be the arbitrator for the given grievance. The first party to strike a name shall be determined by coin flip. Such arbitrator shall be under and in conformance with the "Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules" of the American Arbitration Association; provided, however, if the parties mutually agree, such arbitration may be conducted under the "Expedited Labor Arbitration Rules" of such Association.

- Neither the Employer nor the Association shall be permitted to assert any argument or evidence before the arbitrator which was not previously disclosed to the other party.
- b. The arbitrator shall have no authority to alter, delete, or add to the terms of this Agreement.
- c. Each party shall bear the full costs for its representation in the arbitration. The cost of the arbitrator shall be divided equally between the parties.
- d. If either party requests a transcript of the proceedings, that party shall bear the full costs for that transcript. If both parties order a transcript, the cost of the two (2) transcripts, three (3) transcripts if a copy is requested by the arbitrator, shall be divided equally between the parties.

5.3 Other Provisions

The following, when applicable, shall apply in processing a grievance.

- **5.3.1** If the Association and the Superintendent or their designee mutually agree lower steps of the grievance procedure may be by-passed and the grievance taken directly to step four of this grievance procedure.
- **5.3.2** Class grievances involving one (1) or more Employees or one (1) or more supervisors and grievances involving an administrator above the building level may be initially filed by the Association at step three.
- **5.3.3** The Employer acknowledges the right of the Association's grievance representative to participate in the processing of a grievance at any level, and no Employee shall be required to discuss any grievance if the Association's representative is not present.
- **5.3.4** Should the investigation or processing of any grievance require that an Employee or an Association representative be released from their regular assignment, they shall be released upon mutual agreement of the Superintendent and the Association President to such release, and such release shall be without loss of pay or benefits.
- **5.3.5** All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participant.
- **5.3.6** A grievance may be withdrawn at any level without establishing a precedent.
- **5.3.7** No reprisals shall be taken by the Board against any bargaining unit member because of the member's participation in a grievance.
- **5.3.8** During any arbitration hearing, the individual grievant and an Association representative shall be released from regular assignment without loss of pay.

ARTICLE 6: HOURS OF WORK

6.1 Work Year

The normal work year shall be no less than the number of workdays included in the scheduled school year as established by the Board.

6.2 Workday

The normal workday for Employees covered by this Agreement shall be six and three-quarter (6.75) hours. In addition, a minimum of thirty (30) minutes daily unpaid lunch break shall be cooperatively scheduled by the Employee and the Employer. However, in no event should such lunch break occur after 1:30 p.m.

6.2.1 Parent/Teacher Conference Day In the event there is no professional development activity scheduled during this day for Employees and in the event certified employees are given the opportunity to flex their time for Parent/Teacher Conference Days, the same opportunity is to be given to the Employees covered by this Agreement. In the event a professional development activity will be scheduled, Employees will be given four weeks' notice.

6.3 Probationary Period

Employees are required to successfully complete a forty-five (45) workday probationary period before they are entitled to grieve any discharge. In addition, the Association may not grieve any such action on behalf of a probationary Employee.

6.4 Last Day of School

The last day of school shall be five (5) clock hours with no financial penalty. It is understood that Employees who work more than five (5) clock hours will not be eligible to receive additional pay unless the Employee works beyond their normal workday.

6.5 Professional Development

The Association and the Employer recognize the need for having professional development workshops or trainings for Employees.

- **6.5.1** Such workshops and trainings generally shall be held for all or part of the regular workday.
- **6.5.2** Workshops or trainings that occur outside of the regular scheduled workday will be paid at the hourly rate of the Employee as documented on District time sheets and in compliance with District guidelines for awarding hourly compensation.
- **6.5.3** Paraprofessionals may have the opportunity to participate in District provided workshops/trainings as applicable to job requirements and pending availability.

6.6 E-Learning Days

The Employer may at times use an e-learning day rather than an emergency day. While the Employee workday may look different than a regular workday, such e-learning days will count as student attendance days, to the extent permissible by law, and as workdays for Employees.

- **a.** Employees will be required to work 5 hours within their normal contractual workday to receive credit for each full e-learning day.
- **b.** Employees will consult with their classroom teachers and building administrators for their schedule and responsibilities for the day.

- **c.** The Employer will provide the Association with any e-learning plan submitted to the state board or Regional Office of Education. The Association retains the right to bargain the impact of such plan.
- **d.** The District may provide opportunities such as trainings or professional development, which Employees may attend in order to account for some, or all, of the hours needed.

6.7 Faculty Meetings

Paraprofessionals are encouraged to attend faculty meetings. Attendance shall be optional, and Employees who attend shall be compensated at their regular hourly rate of pay. The parties agree to revisit this practice in future negotiations to assess its effectiveness.

ARTICLE 7: WAGES AND RELATED BENEFITS

7.1 Wages

Hourly compensation for Employees covered by this agreement shall be in accordance with the Appendix. Employees will advance on the schedule for each year of service.

- **7.1.1 Relevant Experience Credit** Outside paraprofessional credit shall be recognized for step placement at the time of hire beyond the entry level by granting year-for-year credit up to a maximum of five (5) years for relevant experience in paraprofessional, nursing home, rehabilitative, DCFS-licensed daycare, healthcare and/or home healthcare roles.
- **7.1.2 Summer Programs** Rates of pay for extended school year and summer school shall remain the same as the rate paid during the school term immediately preceding the summer session.

7.2 Tax Sheltered Annuity

An Employee may participate in a tax sheltered annuity plan authorized by the Employer, the payment therefore, to be made through payroll deduction authorized in writing by the Employee on a form supplied by the Employer.

7.3 Group Medical Plans

For a full-time Employee, the Employer will pay into the fund an amount for each individual Employee toward insurance benefits.

- For the plan year July 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025 \$10,080 (\$840 per month).
- For the plan year January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2026, \$10,476 (\$873 per month).
- For the plan year January 1, 2027 through December 31, 2027, \$10,896 (\$908 per month).
- For the plan year January 1, 2028 through June 30, 2028, \$5,790 (\$965 per month).

For a part-time Employee who is employed to work at least five (5) hours but less than full-time, the Employer will pay a portion of the monthly rate for the Employee's single rate under such plan, based on a percentage of time employed. The amount of time for computation of the Employer's portion of the rate shall not include any compensation for performing extra assignments. The portion, if any, of the single rate of an eligible part-time Employee not paid by the Employer's contribution, shall be paid by payroll deduction.

If the balance in the Trust fund is less than four (4) months of annual spending at any time during a fiscal year, the Insurance Committee shall make changes to the plan benefits and/or participant payments (co-pays, deductibles, etc.) by 30 days prior to open enrollment to take

effect for the next fiscal year or earlier if such changes are to take effect during a fiscal year sufficient to ensure the balance is at or above the four (4) month level by the end of the next fiscal year.

- **7.3.1** An Employee who is eligible to participate in the Employer's group medical plan may purchase coverage for their dependents at the rate for dependent coverage, the payment therefore to be made through payroll deductions authorized in writing by the Employee on a form supplied by the Employer.
- **7.3.2** An eligible Employee on extended unpaid leave without eligible Family Medical Leave entitlement or other benefit protection shall receive applicable benefits under the Employer's group medical plan, provided such Employee pays to the Employer in advance the full monthly rate for such medical coverage no later than the first of the month during which premiums come due.
- **7.3.3** An eligible Employee who resigns their employment with the Employer after performing completely their individual employment contract with the Employer shall continue to have their insurance medical coverage paid by the Employer, to the extent provided herein, through the date of the Employer's final salary payment to the Employee.
- **7.3.4** An eligible Employee who retires may continue coverage in the Plan the Employee was participating in on the last day of employment by paying to the Employer in advance the rate for such medical coverage. Dependent coverage as defined in such Plan will be available at the retiree's option and expense at the rate for dependent coverage, provided such retiree had dependent coverage prior to retirement.
- **7.3.5** Medical benefits shall be in accordance with the terms of the group medical plan documents in effect at the time a claim for coverage is made. Copies of all master policies, documents describing benefit coverage or claim procedures and experience, and other documents generated by the Plan administrator provided to the Employer shall be provided to the Association, and each eligible Employee shall receive a medical benefits summary and identification card on a timely basis.
- **7.3.6** An ongoing insurance committee consisting of seven (7) members shall be established to monitor the operation of the medical plan and to offer suggested changes in benefit components and/or operating procedures. The committee shall be composed of one (1) member chosen by the Bloomington Education Support Personnel, four (4) members chosen by the Union that represents the teachers, one (1) member representing office and technical participants, and one (1) member representing administrative Employees who participate in the plan.
 - **a.** The insurance committee shall be specifically responsible for:
 - 1. Employee education regarding health insurance issues;
 - 2. adjustments in existing components of the health plan if any are necessary in the opinion of the insurance committee;
 - 3. monitoring the investment of Trust monies and suggesting any changes in current trusteeship;
 - 4. providing recommendations regarding the use and selection of the Plan Administrator:
 - 5. providing recommendations regarding the selection of the PPO provider(s); and
 - 6. utilizing current or new data to monitor the Plan's operation.

- **b.** The insurance committee shall meet as necessary, but no less than quarterly during the regular school year to fulfill its responsibilities. Such meetings may be scheduled during the workday and bargaining unit members shall be released to attend. The committee shall act by majority vote of its participants.
- **7.3.7** Monthly rates for individual, single plus one, and family shall be set by an independent actuary. The report from the actuary shall be provided by October 1 of each year. The new rates shall take effect the following January 1.

7.4 Life Insurance

The Employer will pay the full monthly premium cost under the Employer's group life and group accidental death and dismemberment ("AD&D") insurance plan for each Employee who is employed to work more than five (5) hours per workday. The amount of coverage shall be subject to the insurance carrier's restrictions and equal to an Employee's annual salary as set forth in Appendix A of this Agreement rounded to the next highest \$1,000 and with a minimum amount of \$10,000. Should the carrier's restrictions determine an Employee to be ineligible or to require their benefits to be impacted in some way, the Employer will notify the Employee and Association. An Employee shall become eligible for such insurance coverage as provided by this Section on the first day of the month next following the date they began active service with the Employer.

- **7.4.1** Optional group life and AD&D insurance in a like amount as provided by the Employer shall be made available under the terms and conditions of such plan at the Employee's option and expense. Payment for such optional insurance shall be made through payroll deductions.
- **7.4.2** Such group life and AD&D insurance shall be in accordance with the Employer's practices and procedures with respect to such group insurance plan. The Employer shall have exclusive control of the selection of the carrier, management of accumulated reserves, and all responsibilities incidental to the administration of such plan.

7.5 Pay Days

Pay days shall be semi-monthly on the thirteenth (13th) and the twenty-eighth (28th) of each calendar month. An Employee may request in writing by May 1 early payoff of their contract.

7.6 Substitute Work

An Employee who is appropriately licensed may internally substitute for a certified employee and will be compensated at the Employee's regular rate of pay. In addition, the Employee shall receive a minimum of \$25 for a half-day (3.75 hours or less in the same day) or \$50 for more than a half-day (more than 3.75 hours in the same day) of substitute teacher coverage. No Employee shall be required to work as a substitute teacher; however, such Employee may be requested to substitute for a teacher in the Employee's building in an emergency situation or when other substitutes are unattainable.

7.7 Retirement Incentive

The Employer will offer a retirement incentive providing a 6% increase in pay in the final year of employment, provided the Employee submits an irrevocable notice of retirement to the Employer no later than October 1 of the school year in which the retirement will occur. To be eligible, the Employee must be in at least their eleventh (11th) year of continuous employment as a paraprofessional in District 87 and must provide documentation verifying eligibility to retire under IMRF. This incentive shall apply only to Employees whose scheduled wage increase in their final year would otherwise be less than 6%.

ARTICLE 8: LEAVES

8.1 Sick Leave

Employees shall be granted sick leave at full pay for their regularly scheduled hours of work per normal workday in accordance with the following:

- **8.1.1** An Employee shall accumulate sick leave at the rate of eleven (11) working days for a nine month contract period. Contracts of less than nine (9) months shall have sick leave established on a pro-rated basis. Such sick leave days shall be available on the Employee's first scheduled workday. Any unused sick leave shall be accumulated to a maximum of 260 working days.
- **8.1.2** An Employee may use sick leave for personal illness, injury, quarantine at home, temporary disability, or serious illness or death in the Employee's immediate family or household. Immediate family for the purpose of this Section shall include: father; mother; sister; brother; wife; husband; child or grandchild related by blood, marriage, or adoption; grandfather; grandmother; father-in-law; mother-in-law; sister-in-law; brother-in-law; and legal guardian. Sick leave may also be used for medical and dental appointments for an Employee or a member of their household. An eligible Employee unable to work due to pregnancy may treat such disability as a "temporary disability" under this paragraph.
- **8.1.3** Sick leave may be used to attend funerals.
- **8.1.4** An Employee shall submit a request for absence utilizing the accepted method of the District stating the nature of the absence, time expected to be away from work, and when the Employee expects to return to work.
- **8.1.5** Sick leave with compensation shall be taken and recorded by the actual time used.
- **8.1.6** The School district may require a physician's statement as a basis for verifying an Employee's illness or injury after an absence of three working days or as it may deem necessary in other cases.
- **8.1.7** An Employee eligible to receive paid sick leave who is injured in the course of their employment with the School District and is entitled to receive benefits under the Illinois Worker's Compensation Act shall receive full salary for the length of the injury or the maximum accumulated sick leave, whichever is less, upon surrendering to the Employer all compensation provided by Worker's Compensation. An Employee not eligible to receive paid sick leave shall retain all compensation provided by Worker's Compensation.
- **8.1.8** Sick leave shall also be interpreted to mean birth, adoption, placement for adoption, or the acceptance of a child in need of foster care.

An Employee may use up to thirty (30) consecutive days of their own accumulated sick leave for the birth of a child even if such absence is not related to the need to recover from childbirth. Such use of sick leave for the birth of a child does not require medical certification and may be used at any time within the 12-month period following the birth and may not be diminished as a result of any intervening period of nonworking days or school not being in session, such as for summer, winter, or spring break and holidays.

An Employee may use up to thirty (30) days of their own accumulated sick leave for adoption, placement for adoption, or the acceptance of a child in need of foster care. The Employer may require an Employee to provide documentation that the formal adoption or foster care process is underway. Such use of sick leave need not be used consecutively once the formal adoption process or the formal foster care process is underway, and such

sick leave may be used for reasons related to the formal adoption process or the formal foster care process prior to taking custody of the child or accepting the child in need of foster care, in addition to using such sick leave upon taking custody of the child or accepting the child in need of foster care.

8.2 Leave for Personal Business

Employees may use a maximum of two scheduled workdays per school term at full salary for conducting personal business. Those employed after the beginning of their normal contract year will have available personal leave computed at time of employment. Except as authorized in subsection 8.2.2, such leave shall not be accumulated. However, unused personal business leave will be added to the Employee's accumulated paid sick leave as of July 1.

- **8.2.1** An Employee may use personal business leave for the purpose of attending to personal, legal, household or family matters that require absence during normal working hours. Normally, such leave shall be taken for either one-half or all of the normal scheduled workday; however, an Employee may use such leave in time amounts of less than one-half day pursuant to established administrative procedures.
- **8.2.2** An employee shall be granted personal leave at the rate of two (2) days for a full school term of employment, and such leave days shall be available on the first normal scheduled workday of such school term. On July 1 of each school year, full and/or one-half (1/2) days of such leave not used during the preceding school term will be added to the Employee's accumulated paid sick leave. Upon the tenth (10th) year of employment in the District, Employees may accumulate a maximum of three (3) personal days.
- **8.2.3** A new Employee employed after the first day of the school term shall be granted such leave at the rate of one-half (1/2) day for each remaining full forty-six (46) normal scheduled workday period of the normal scheduled workdays specified in Article 6.1 of this Agreement, and such leave days shall be available on the Employee's first scheduled workday. Such leave shall not be accumulated from year to year; however, on July 1 of each school year full and/or one-half (1/2) days of such leave not used during the preceding school term will be added to the Employee's accumulated paid sick leave.
- **8.2.4** A request for personal leave shall be submitted in advance utilizing the accepted method by the District. Such submission shall be submitted two (2) days in advance of the leave, except when circumstances prevent giving such advance notice. No reason other than "personal business" is to be required when requesting personal leave, except when personal leave is being requested for an excluded date as described in 8.2.5.
- **8.2.5** The day immediately preceding or immediately following a legal holiday or school recess approved by the Employer, except the first day of school, last day of school, Thanksgiving break, Winter break and Spring break, shall be approved for personal leave. Personal leave shall only be approved on excluded dates in an emergency situation, for observance of a religious holiday, or on the special approval of the Superintendent or designated representative.
- 8.2.6 Leave for Personal Business shall be taken and recorded by the actual time used.

8.3 Jury Service

An Employee on jury service during their scheduled working hours shall receive their full compensation for the time served on jury service upon surrendering to the Employer all payments received for such jury service, less any mileage, meal allowance, and parking fees. If such jury service is on the Employee's scheduled time off, the Employee shall retain the pay for such jury service. If such jury service is less than the normal scheduled workday, the Employee shall return to their assigned school.

8.4 Leave for Military Service

Employees entering into military service shall be treated in accordance with the Federal and State laws protecting the employment rights of veterans.

8.5 Leave for Educational Meeting

An Employee may at the Employer's discretion be granted leave with pay to attend an educational meeting, conference, or workshop.

- **8.5.1** A request for such leave shall be submitted on a travel request form furnished by the Employer.
- **8.5.2** Such leave may be approved with or without all or part of the expenses paid by the Employer. Approved expenses will be paid in accordance with established administrative procedures.

8.6 General Leave of Absence Without Salary

An Employee having completed a minimum of two contract periods of continuous employment with the District may be granted a leave of absence for prolonged illness, pregnancy, adoption or for other purposes designed to improve the School District.

- **8.6.1** Such leave without salary may be granted for not more than the remainder of the then current contract period; however, in exceptional circumstances, it may be extended one additional normal contract period.
- **8.6.2** A written request for such leave shall be submitted to the Employee's supervisor which will be forwarded to the Personnel Specialist for processing and submission to the Board of Education.
- **8.6.3** An Employee returning from a general leave of absence will be offered the first available position for which the Employee is qualified and at a salary normally paid for such position.

8.7 Association Leave Days

Association Leave shall be granted to an Employee in accordance with the following:

- **8.7.1** The Association shall submit a request for absence in the accepted method of the District at least seven (7) days in advance of the commencement of such leave. If a bargaining unit member or representative is participating in a grievance proceeding (refer to Article 5.3.8), the seven (7) day notification period will be waived. Such request shall state the specific reason for the requested leave, name of the employee, and the day or day(s) of the leave.
- **8.7.2** The Employer shall approve the leave, provided the Employee's absence will not impair the work schedule for such Employee's assigned work area.
- **8.7.3** There shall not be an aggregate number of Association Leave days in any school year in excess of six (6) workdays.
- **8.7.4** The Association shall reimburse the Employer for each such leave day the cost of the substitute should one be employed.

8.8 Family Medical Leave Act

Employees are eligible for Family Medical Leave if they are considered full-time employees, and follow all FMLA eligibility and paperwork requirements. Unpaid leave, guaranteed by the federal

Family Medical Leave Act, for up to a combined total of twelve (12) weeks each year will be available to eligible Employees for the following reasons:

- **a.** the birth of a child of the employee and to care for that child;
- **b.** the adoption or foster placement of a child;
- c. the serious health condition of an employee's spouse, parent, or child; and
- **d.** the employee's own serious health condition.

During a family and medical leave, employees are entitled to continuation of health benefits that would have been provided if they were working. An employee returning from family and medical leave will be given an equivalent position to their position before the leave, subject to the District's reassignment policies and practices.

ARTICLE 9: EMPLOYEE EVALUATION

9.1 Employee Evaluation

The following procedures will be used in preparing formal written evaluation of an Employee's performance.

- **9.1.1** The principal or designated supervisor will provide a copy and explanation of the job description and the evaluation instrument to the employee. A copy of the paraprofessional job description will be given to the cooperating teacher or teachers.
- **9.1.2** Probationary Employees will be evaluated during their first year of employment.
- **9.1.3** Non-probationary Employees will be evaluated at least once every two years prior to March 1.
- **9.1.4** The principal or designated supervisor will provide a written copy of the evaluation to the Employee. The principal or designated supervisor will conference with the Employee about the evaluation. The completed evaluation form will be signed by the principal or designated supervisor and the Employee. The Employee will be provided a signed copy of the evaluation, a copy will be kept by the principal or designated supervisor, and a copy will be sent to the personnel file of the Employee.

ARTICI F 10: SENIORITY AND LAYOFFS

10.1 Seniority

Seniority shall be defined as the period of continuous employment by an Employee. A seniority list will be provided to the Union annually by February 1st. An Employee claiming an error in the calculation of their seniority must file a grievance within ten (10) days of the posting of such notice. In the event of a tie in seniority, such tie will be broken by a one-time drawing of lots.

10.2 Involuntary Transfers

An "involuntary transfer" is a change of classification (Special Education Paraprofessional, Classroom Paraprofessional, Bilingual Paraprofessional, Library Paraprofessional) to another classification or to a different building location. If an involuntary transfer occurs during a school year, information provided to the Employee being involuntarily transferred will include but not be

limited to the position they will be filling, the effective date, the job requirements and description. The Employee will be given the opportunity to meet with the supervisor of their new assignment to become acclimated to the new position, be informed of their schedule, introduced to the staff and facility, and given an opportunity to indicate any potential training needs based on the requirements of the new position. The Employee will be given at least five (5) working days' notice, except in an emergency, before the transfer is to be effective and every effort will be made to have the transition occur at a convenient time in the school calendar – coinciding with a holiday break, school improvement day, institute day, etc. so that the Employee may have a chance to conclude their current assignment and prepare for their new assignment.

10.3 Layoff

10.3.1 In the event Employees need to be reduced or laid off within either classification, the Employee(s) with the least seniority shall be laid off first. Any Employee so laid off may apply their seniority to any other classification with less senior Employees to retain employment provided that the Employee meets the qualifications of the job description into which the Employee is transferring. In addition, any Employee "bumping" into a different position will be subject to a forty-five (45) workday probationary period.

10.3.2 An Employee's right to be recalled by seniority will terminate (a) after one calendar year from the beginning of the school term following the layoff, or (b) if the Employee fails to return to work within two (2) weeks after written notice of recall is sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, t the Employee's last known address on file with the Employer.

ARTICLE 11: LIMITATION OF AGREEMENT

11.1 Conformity to Law

No provision or clause of this Agreement may supersede State of Federal law. In the event that any provision of this Agreement or application of any such provision is or shall at any time be held by a court of final competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, such provisions, or such provisions to the extent of such illegal application, as the case may be, shall be deemed to have been deleted from this Agreement and all other provisions or applications of this Agreement shall continue in effect.

11.2 Complete Agreement

The terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement represent the full and complete understanding and commitment between the parties hereto and conclude collective bargaining for the term hereof except as specifically provided in this Agreement. The terms and conditions of this Agreement may be modified by alteration, change, addition to, or deletion during the term hereof only through the voluntary, mutual consent of the parties in a written amendment executed in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12: TERMINATION AND NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES

12.1 Contract Period

Following ratification by the Association and approval by the Employer, this Agreement shall become effective July 1, 2025, except as otherwise provided herein, and remain in effect through June 30, 2028.

12.2 Modification

This Agreement shall remain in effect from year to year after June 30, 2028, or June 30 of any succeeding year, unless either party notifies the other in writing by certified mail that it desires to terminate this Agreement at least one hundred and twenty (120) days prior to June 30, 2028, or June 30 of any succeeding year.

- **12.2.1** Negotiations between the Employer and the Association shall begin as soon as practicable following notification of one party to the other as specified in paragraph 12.2. Meetings shall be held as necessary at times and places agreed to by both parties.
- **12.2.2** The agreement reached through negotiations specified in Section 12.2 must be ratified by the Association members covered by this Agreement and approved by the Employer prior to the effective date of changes agreed upon during negotiations.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement on August 20, 2025.

BLOOMINGTON EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL – PARAPROFESSIONALS BLOOMINGTON BOARD OF EDUCATION, SCHOOL DISTRICT 87

APPENDIX

Paraprofessional Hourly Wage Rates: 2025-26 through 2027-28

HOURLY WAGE RATES

STEP	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28
1	\$ 19.66	\$ 20.45	\$ 21.26
2	\$ 20.00	\$ 20.80	\$ 21.64
3	\$ 20.35	\$ 21.16	\$ 22.01
4	\$ 20.69	\$ 21.52	\$ 22.38
5	\$ 21.04	\$ 21.88	\$ 22.75
6	\$ 21.38	\$ 22.24	\$ 23.12
7	\$ 21.72	\$ 22.59	\$ 23.50
8	\$ 22.07	\$ 22.95	\$ 23.87
9	\$ 22.41	\$ 23.31	\$ 24.24
10	\$ 22.76	\$ 23.67	\$ 24.61
11	\$ 23.10	\$ 24.02	\$ 24.99
12	\$ 23.44	\$ 24.38	\$ 25.36
13	\$ 23.79	\$ 24.74	\$ 25.73
14	\$ 24.13	\$ 25.10	\$ 26.10
15	\$ 24.48	\$ 25.46	\$ 26.47
16	\$ 25.07	\$ 26.07	\$ 27.11
17	\$ 25.66	\$ 26.68	\$ 27.75
18	\$ 26.25	\$ 27.30	\$ 28.39
19	\$ 26.84	\$ 27.91	\$ 29.03
20	\$ 27.43	\$ 28.52	\$ 29.66
21	\$ 28.02	\$ 29.14	\$ 30.30
22	\$ 28.61	\$ 29.75	\$ 30.94
23	\$ 29.20	\$ 30.36	\$ 31.58
24	\$ 29.78	\$ 30.98	\$ 32.22
25	\$ 30.37	\$ 31.59	\$ 32.85
26	\$ 30.96	\$ 32.20	\$ 33.49
27	\$ 31.55	\$ 32.82	\$ 34.13
28	\$ 32.14	\$ 33.43	\$ 34.77
29	\$ 32.73	\$ 34.04	\$ 35.40
30	\$ 33.32	\$ 34.66	\$ 36.04